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)




)
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)

DECISION 


Frankie J. Goins is subject to discipline because he committed the criminal offense of attempt to commit felony stealing, and his conduct was committed under color of law and involved moral turpitude.  
Procedure


The Director of the Department of Public Safety (“the Director”) filed a complaint on October 22, 2010, seeking this Commission’s determination that Goins’ peace officer license is subject to discipline.  Though Goins received a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing by certified mail on November 5, 2010, he did not file an answer to the complaint.  

The Director filed a motion for summary decision (“the motion”) on December 13, 2010.  We allowed Goins until January 6, 2011, to respond to the motion, but he did not respond.   
Pursuant to 1 CSR 15-3.446(5)(A), we may decide a motion for summary decision if a party establishes facts that entitle that party to a favorable decision and no party genuinely disputes such facts.  Those facts may be established by stipulation, pleading of the adverse party, or other evidence admissible under the law.  The Director’s evidence consists of an affidavit concerning Goins’ licensure, certified copies of records from the Circuit Court of Dunklin County and a copy of State v. Goins,
 the appeals court decision affirming his conviction.  The following facts, based on that evidence, are undisputed.
Findings of Fact

1. Goins is licensed as a peace officer, and he was in 2007 when the events at issue in this case occurred.  He was employed as a police officer with the Malden Police Department.
2. A teenager who had been caught up in a scam involving the sale of stolen trading cards contacted the police to report the scam.  Goins called him and asked him to bring the money he had received from his participation in the trading card scam to the police station.  Goins told him the money was needed in connection with the police investigation.
3. The teenager told his stepfather what Goins had asked him to do, and the stepfather notified the chief of police, who notified the Highway Patrol.
4. On September 2, 2007, the teenager went to the police station and gave the money –  $1,000 – to Goins.  Goins did not give him a receipt, count the money, or open a case file.  He placed the money in his own personal locker instead of the police station’s evidence locker.  His actions were videotaped.
5. At the end of Goins’ shift, a member of the Highway Patrol confronted him about his actions as he left the police station.

6. The Dunklin County Prosecuting Attorney filed an information in the Circuit Court of Dunklin County on December 12, 2007, asserting that Goins committed the Class C felony of stealing by deceit.

7. After a jury trial, Goins was found guilty of attempt to commit felony stealing, a Class D felony, on March 25, 2008.  He was sentenced to pay a fine of $3,500.
8. Goins appealed his conviction, but the court of appeals upheld it and issued its mandate affirming his conviction on April 26, 2010.
Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear this case.
  The Director has the burden of proving that Goins has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  The Director argues that there is cause for discipline under § 590.080:

1.  The director shall have cause to discipline any peace officer licensee who:
*   *   *
(2) Has committed any criminal offense, whether or not a criminal charge has been filed;

(3) Has committed any act while on active duty or under color of law that involves moral turpitude or a reckless disregard for the safety of the public or any person[.]

I.  Criminal Offense

Goins was convicted of attempt to commit felony stealing, in violation of § 570.030 and § 564.011. 
  Section 570.030.1 provides:  

A person commits the crime of stealing if he or she appropriates property or services of another with the purpose to deprive him or her thereof, either without his or her consent or by means of deceit or coercion.  

Section 570.030.3(1) provides that stealing is a Class C felony if the value of the property or services appropriated is $500 or more, but less than $25,000.  Section 564.011 provides:

1.  A person is guilty of attempt to commit an offense when, with the purpose of committing the offense, he does any act which is a substantial step towards the commission of the offense. . . .

*   *   *

3.  Unless otherwise provided, an attempt to commit an offense is a:

*   *   *

(3) Class D felony if the offense attempted is a class C felony.


Goins was convicted of attempt to commit felony stealing, a Class D felony.  He committed a criminal offense.  There is cause to discipline his license under 
§ 590.080.1(2).  
II.  Act Involving Moral Turpitude

The Director asserts that Goins may be disciplined under § 590.080.1(3) for committing an act while on active duty or under color of law that involves moral turpitude.  It is not clear whether Goins was actually on active duty when he took the money from the teenager.  Even if he was not, however, he acted under color of law.  As defined by a court when construing the term in the context of 42 U.S.C. § 1983:
“The traditional definition of acting under color of state law requires that the defendant in a § 1983 action have exercised power ‘possessed by virtue of state law and made possible only because the wrongdoer is clothed with the authority of state law.’” . . .  At the same time, however, the Supreme Court has made clear that even the “[m]isuse of power” possessed by virtue of state law is action taken “under color of state law.” . . .  Thus, “under ‘color’ of law” means “under ‘pretense’ of law,” and “[a]cts of officers who undertake to perform their official duties are included whether they hew to the line of their authority or overstep it.”[
]

Goins misused his position of authority to attempt to take money that did not belong to him.  He acted under color of law, even if he was not on active duty.  

Moral turpitude is:
an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty 

between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[
]

We agree that Goins’ conduct involved moral turpitude.  He is subject to discipline under 
§ 590.080.1(3).  
Summary


Goins is subject to discipline under § 590.080.1(2) and (3).  

SO ORDERED on March 15, 2011.


________________________________



KAREN A. WINN


Commissioner
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